# Scaffold biomaterials for nano-pathophysiology

Masaya Yamamoto<sup>1,\*</sup>, Shahin Rafii<sup>2</sup>, and Sina Y. Rabbany<sup>2,3</sup>

1) Department of Biomaterials, Institute for Frontier Medical Sciences, Kyoto University, 53 Kawara-cho Shogoin, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto 606-8507, Japan

2) Ansary Stem Cell Institute, Department of Genetic Medicine, Weill Cornell Medical College, 1300 York Ave., New York, NY, 10065, USA.

3) Bioengineering Program, Hofstra University, 110 Weed Hall, Hempstead, NY 11549, USA

\*To whom correspondence should be addressed: Masaya Yamamoto, Ph.D. Institute for Frontier Medical Sciences, Kyoto University 53 Kawara-cho Shogoin, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, 606-8507 JAPAN Phone: +81-75-751-4108 Fax: +81-75-751-4646 E-mail: masaya@frontier.kyoto-u.ac.jp

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Scaffold biomaterials for tissue fabrication
  - 2.1. Biological/biophysical cues
  - 2.2. Design of polymeric scaffold biomaterials
- 3. Enhanced neovascularization in scaffold biomaterials
  - 3.1. Angiogenic factors to enhance neovascularization
  - 3.2. Angiogenic cells to enhance neovascularization
- 4. Vascularized tissue engineered constructs for nano-pathophysiology
  - 4.1. Top-down approaches (*in vivo*)
  - 4.2. Bottom-up approaches (in vitro)
- 5. Conclusions

References

# Abstract

This review is intended to provide an overview of tissue engineering strategies using scaffold biomaterials to develop a vascularized tissue engineered construct for nano-pathophysiology. Two primary topics are discussed. The first is the biological or synthetic microenvironments that regulate cell behaviors in pathological conditions and tissue regeneration. Second is the use of scaffold biomaterials with angiogenic factors and/or cells to realize vascularized tissue engineered constructs for nano-pathophysiology. These topics are significantly overlapped in terms of three-dimensional (3-D) geometry of cells and blood vessels. Therefore, this review focuses on neovascularization of 3-D scaffold biomaterials induced by angiogenic factors and/or cells. The novel strategy of this approach in nano-pathophysiology is to utilize the vascularized tissue engineered construct as a tissue model to predict the distribution and subsequent therapeutic efficacy of a drug delivery system with different physicochemical and biological properties.

**Keywords:** scaffold biomaterials, angiogenic factor delivery, angiogenic cell delivery, vascularized tissue engineered constructs

### **1. Introduction**

In the body, cells and tissue are organized into three-dimensional (3-D) architecture. To engineer such functional tissues, scaffold biomaterials have to be fabricated through different methodologies that facilitate cell distribution and guide growth into a 3-D space. Traditional static two-dimensional (2-D) cell culture systems allow us to understand many complex biological processes in a homogeneous population of cells. However, in the native physiological system, cells exist in a complex microenvironment consisting of various biological cues, such as signaling molecules, extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules, biomechanical forces, and cell-cell interactions [1]. Although the simplicity of the 2-D culture systems can elucidate individual cell phenomena, the 2-D culture systems reduces the biological importance and complexity of dynamic tissue architectures that affect the physiological behavior of cells in vivo. For instance, unlike in 2-D culture, mammary epithelial cells embedded in a 3-D environment stop growing, form acinar structures, and establish a de novo basement membrane [2-4]. For this reason, 3-D tissue constructs better reflect native biophysical and biochemical environments, and hence have become a focus of recent investigation [5].

In addition to the geometric effect, the microenvironment plays a pivotal role in regulating the spatial distribution of nutrients, oxygen, and soluble signaling molecules, such as growth factors, hormones, and cytokines. These chemical gradients are essential for the regulation of fundamental cell processes, such as cell migration [6], angiogenesis [7, 8], and tissue patterning in development [9-12]. This spatial distribution of diffusible factors is complex and is affected by the surrounding ECM, the organization of vasculature, and distribution of neighboring cells. Furthermore, the sustained presence of a 3-D concentration gradient is required to elicit chemotactic events such as cell migration and polarization. However, under conventional 2-D culture conditions, cell-secreted or exogenously added soluble factors diffuse ubiquitously throughout the medium, thereby forming a rapid equilibrium devoid of these gradients.

Similar to the signaling molecule, the diffusion of soluble therapeutic drugs, which is one of the important determinants in the therapeutic efficacy of the drug, is regulated by microenvironmental properties including oxygen concentration, vascular structure, local pH, and inner pressure in pathological tissues [13]. For instance, Kano et

al. demonstrated that the efficacy of anticancer drug-incorporated nanoparticles with a diameter of several tens of nanometer was largely determined by the structure of vascular walls [14]. In order to act effectively to the cancer cells, these nanoparticles must pass through the vascular wall towards the interstitial tissue [14-17]. By depleting alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ SMA) positive cells from the tumor vasculature with an inhibitor of transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$  receptor type I, the resistance to the anticancer drug in a model of pancreatic cancer is diminished, and thus alteration of the tumor microenvironment enhances the therapeutic efficacy of the anticancer drug even in the intractable tumor. This environmental effect in the cancer treatment is not predictable by the conventional drug screening based on the regular 2-D culture, where cancer cells derived from the intractable tumor are always sufficiently sensitive to conventional anticancer drugs.

Normal blood vessels and tumor-induced blood vessels differ greatly in morphology and function. Normal blood vessels recruit pericytes and vascular smooth muscle cells to the endothelial cells (ECs) to stabilize the vessels. Depending on the type of tumor, tumor-induced blood vessels can be either less stable, disorganized, and leaky, or conversely, less leaky with increased pericyte-coverage and collagen deposition [16, 17]. The leakiness of the tumor vasculature leads to the increased accumulation of nanoparticles depending on their size, a phenomenon which has been called the "enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect" that could enhance the efficacy of the treatment with a less adverse effect [18, 19]. On the contrary, it is likely that tumor vasculature that has increased pericyte-coverage and collagen deposition will impair the permeation of the nanoparticle. Taken together, the complexity of the tumor vasculature requires the consideration of multiple confounding factors in determining drug efficacy, some of which may be better evaluated with interdisciplinary approaches between engineering and basic clinical medicine.

Quantitative understanding of how the number of the pericyte layer and thickness of the collagen deposition affect the penetration, accumulation, and efficacy of nanoparticles plays a pivotal role in developing nanotherapeutics for intractable tumors. However, the lack of the reproducibility and standardization of conventional animal models, such as tumor zenograft models, is a major drawback to tackle the issue. One interdisciplinary approach to accurately mimic a nano-pathophysiological microenvironment in tumors is to create vascularized tissue engineered constructs with particular vascular structures seen in pathological tissues by utilizing scaffold biomaterials and following controlled positioning of different cells therein. There are two strategies to create vascularized tissue engineered constructs (Figure 1). The first is "top down approach" based on the ECs and their ability to form vascular networks in vivo. The second strategy, "bottom-up approach", deals with the vessels themselves in vitro. In these approaches, scaffold biomaterials function not only as a 3-D template for cell attachment, cell positioning, ECM presentation, and subsequent tissue formation, but also as a spatio-temporally controlled delivery system of angiogenic factors and/or cells. We will now explore these scaffold biomaterials and their use as controlled delivery systems of angiogenic factors and/or cells, and review how angiogenic growth factors and/or cells play an integral role in introducing vascular networks into tissue engineered constructs. We also discuss how this knowledge might inspire the development of novel vascularized engineered tissue constructs for nano-pathophysiology in the future.

# 2. Scaffold biomaterials for tissue fabrication

Scaffold biomaterials have been extensively investigated as a 3-D template for cell attachment and subsequent tissue formation. Unlike conventional 2-D cultures, which involve growing cells in a non-physiological 2-D environment, positioning of cells within 3-D scaffolds may provide more natural microenvironments that enable cells to promote physiological functions in vitro [5, 20-23]. On the contrary, it has been demonstrated that fibroblasts and surrounding cells are regulated by pathological ECM proteins in fibrosis and tumor [24-28]. In addition to the interactions between the cells and the ECM, the mechanical properties of the substrate (i.e., stromal tissues) also regulate multiple cellular processes, and thus have numerous effects on tissue development and disease processes [29-31]. Indeed, mimicking such natural microenvironments seems to be a promising strategy to design scaffold biomaterials. However, there still remain some substantial challenges to create natural microenvironment-mimicking scaffold biomaterials. One possible way to tackle this issue is to encourage cells to create their own ECM microenvironments in scaffold biomaterials. Thus, design of scaffold biomaterials facilitating cell secretion of therein or pathological ECM proteins an appropriate combination of biological/biophysical cues, such as ECM structures, stiffness, and mechanical stimuli,

may modify cell activities in tissue engineered constructs with the pathological microenvironment.

# 2.1. Biological/biophysical cues

Several biological/biophysical cues, such as ECM structures, stiffness, and mechanical stimuli, may modify cell activities in scaffold biomaterials. By utilizing such cues, people could expect cell secretion of ECM proteins therein and following tissue formation similar to pathological tissues. Among them, the ECM that forms the structural framework of tissues is one of the major contributors to the development of a unique microenvironment [32]. Fibroblasts are one of the abundant cell types that secrete ECM in connective tissues [33]. Under pathological conditions, alteration in cytokine secretion patterns activates fibroblasts, such as myofibroblasts and cancer associated fibroblasts (CAF), which secrete a different composition of ECM proteins in stromal tissues when compared to their healthy counterparts [26-28] (Table 1). In tumor tissues, several ECM proteins, such as tenasin-C (TNC), fibronectin (FN), and SPARC (secreted protein, acidic and rich in cysteine), are considerably up-regulated, and some of them exists as alternatively spliced isoforms that promote tumor growth and invasion [34-47]. For instance, fibroblast expression of caveolin-1 in vitro and in vivo favors an tumor-specific organized 3-D stromal architecture of fibrin matrices that promotes spindle morphology, facilitates tumor cell invasion, and increases p190-dependent metastatic potency [48]. Moreover, DeQuach et al. developed naturally derived ECM coatings for cell culture that provide important tissue-specific cues unlike traditional cell culture coatings, thereby enabling the maturation of committed C2C12 skeletal myoblast progenitors and human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) differentiated into cardiomyocytes [49]. Taken together, it is possible that coating of pathological ECM proteins may provide better microenvironments for disease cells to create tissue engineered constructs with the pathological microenvironment.

In addition to the interactions between the cells and the ECM, the mechanical properties of the substrate (i.e., stromal tissues) also regulate multiple cellular processes, and thus have numerous effects on tissue development and disease processes [29-31]. Stiffness of a substrate, measured by the Young's modulus, plays an important role in the adherence of the anchorage-dependent cells [1, 50]. Soft tissue has a low Young's modulus (0.5-2 kPa). Normal mammary tissues are quite soft (0.15 kPa), while this low

stiffness shows a 10-20 fold increase in an advanced invasive mammary tumor microenvironment. This increase in stiffness greatly influences cell behavior and facilitates tumor progression [51]. Furthermore, increased collagen crosslinking has been shown to lead to enhanced acquisition of malignant features [43]. Elevated expression of lysil-oxidase, an enzyme necessary for natural collagen type I crosslinking has been linked to increased fibrillar collagen deposition and linearization. Levental et al. demonstrated that ECM stiffness increases from normal to tumor. Strikingly, the stiffness of the tumor adjacent stroma was shown to be elevated in conjunction with the above-mentioned increases in levels of the crosslinker and linearization of collagen. Mammary epithelial cells grown within 3-D environments at physiological Young modulus (E values of 160-170 Pa) form small growth-arrested colonies with polarized  $\beta_4$ -integrin and apical-lateral cortical actin, which are all features found in normal mammary epithelium [52]. By contrast, a small increase in stiffness (400 Pa) promoted the formation of double-sized colonies while further increases in matrix stiffness, closer to those exhibit by tumor-associated ECM, stimulated the formation of greater colonies with atypical (tumorigenic) acini structures and altered integrin and actin polarization [52]. Increased matrix stiffness generates the tension necessary to cluster  $\alpha_5\beta_1$ -integrin in cell-matrix adhesions, thus facilitating cell migration and invasion. Furthermore, stiffness experienced by cells during adhesion to a substrate modulates intracellular mechanisms from gene expression to cell movement through integrin clustering and phosphorylation of integrin-regulated effectors, such as non-receptor tyrosine kinase like focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and p<sup>130</sup>Crk-assosicated substrate [43]. It has been demonstrated that results from cell culture experiments carried out on a 2-D rigid substrate such as tissue culture plastic may not be comparable to those obtained under in vivo conditions [53]. For instance, the stiffness of the ECM can regulate epithelial cell growth, differentiation, and migration, and reduction of ECM stiffness can suppress the malignant behavior of mammary epithelial cells [51]. Thus, the typical 2-D culture not only lacks the unique chemical and physical properties that modulate cell-cell interactions, but also influence the morphology of the individual cell unit.

Mechancial stimuli are also very important in tissue engineering. Different types of mechanical stresses are experienced by various tissues. *In vitro* systems have been developed to model the effect of hydrostatic pressure or fluid shear stress on ECs,

and cyclic strain or compressive stress on chondrocytes. For instance, Dewey et al. demonstrated that confluent monolayers of ECs undergo a time-dependent change in cell shape from polygonal to ellipsoidal and become uniformly oriented under a laminar shear stress of 5-10 dynes/cm<sup>2</sup> [54]. Obi et al. reported that fluid shear stress induces differentiation of circulating endothelial progenitor cells [55]. Using mouse embryonic stem cells differentiated in vitro, Adamo et al. showed that fluid shear stress increases the expression of Runx1 in CD41(+)c-Kit(+) haematopoietic progenitor cells, concomitantly augmenting their haematopoietic colony-forming potential, that increases with an increase in shear stress in vitro [56]. To stimulate chondrocytes, Mizuno et al demonstrated that cyclic hydrostatic fluid pressure that mimics the biophysical stimuli in the joints enhances matrix synthesis and accumulation by bovine chondrocytes in 3-D collagen scaffold biomaterials in vitro [57]. When a force is experienced by cells, the cells sense the microenvironmental cues and transmit the mechanical signal to intracellular biochemical signals via signal transduction. Several cellular mechanosensors, such as integrins and ion channels have been implicated [58]. For instance, integrins allow for a direct mechanical connection between the cell cytoskeleton and ECM, transmitting forces from the outside to the inside of the cell [59]. Such stimuli influence the cytoskeleton assembly directly, thereby translating the mechanical signal into changes in biochemical signaling pathways [60].

# 2.2 Design of polymeric scaffold biomaterials

To encourage cells to create their own ECM microenvironments, scaffold biomaterials should meet several requirements in terms of structural properties, bulk properties, and biological properties [61]. A major structural issue is to create interconnected pore structures that allow cells to migrate homogeneously into scaffold biomaterials. Moreover, a large surface area and space in the scaffold biomaterial enables cells to attach, grow, and produce their own ECM microenvironments. An optimal pore size ranging between 100 and 500 µm is necessary for cell migration and vascularization [62, 63]. Several technologies and methodologies have been developed to create highly porous scaffold biomaterials. Among them freeze-drying and porogen leaching [64] have been widely used to generate porous structures. Another sophisticated technologies include rapid prototyping and electrospinning that can create a defined structure of micropatterns and nanofibers, respectively [65-68]. However, at

present, it is practically difficult to fabricate a stable 3-D micropattern or a thick porous nanofiber in scaffold biomaterials.

The mechanical property and biodegradability greatly affect the bulk property of scaffold biomaterials and subsequent tissue formation. Scaffold biomaterials should have excellent mechanical properties and remain for a certain period of time to keep a space for cells therein. Otherwise, the remaining material may impair the tissue formation. Several biodegradable polymers have been extensively utilized as biomaterials for scaffold fabrication [69]. Among them polyglycolide (PGA) and its copolymers, such as lactide-glycolide copolymer (PLGA), have been widely employed in many studies on tissue engineering. However, they degrade very quickly when used as a scaffold biomaterial. In contrast, poly(L-lactide) (PLLA) degrades extremely slowly (3-6 years) [61]. These synthetic polymers degrade through non-enzymatic hydrolysis, whereas natural polymers, including collagen, gelatin, and hyaluronic acid, undergo enzymatic hydrolysis. In general, most of natural polymers are hydrophilic and yield scaffold biomaterials with low mechanical strength in comparison with PGA, PLGA, and PLLA. Alginates do not contain any hydrolysable bonds, but are often used as a resorbable biomaterial when decomposed to a form with a smaller molecular weight enough to be excreted from the body [70, 71]. Water-soluble polymers are mostly rendered water-insoluble through covalent crosslinking. For instance, poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG) diacrylate has been widely used by crosslinking with thiol-group-containing enzyme sensitive peptides [20, 72, 73]. The thiol group was coupled with an acrylate group through the Michael reaction under a mild condition, which allows us to incorporate cells in the resulting PEG hydrogels. Several peptides with functional moieties, such as a protease cleavable peptide and a ECM binding peptide, have been employed to prepare cell-encapsulating PEG-based hydrogels with bioactivities [20].

Since the bulk property of the living tissue is extremely complicated to be mimicked using conventional biomaterials, biomolecules with high bioactivities, such as signaling molecules and ECM, have been utilized to improve biological properties of scaffold biomaterials and facilitate tissue formation [61]. There are two methods to combine biomolecules with scaffold biomaterials. One is the controlled release of biomolecules from scaffold biomaterials. The other is the surface modification of scaffold biomaterials with biomolecules, such as graft polymerization, micropatterning,

and protein coating or immobilization, that allows us to change the surface property including wettability, electric charge, morphology or roughness, and bioactivity [74]. Upon seeding onto the scaffold biomaterial with an appropriate surface property, cells could produce their own microenvironments and eventually form new tissues [75]. In the living system, cells receive external cues from the microenvironment through the interactions of cell-ECM, cell-cell, and cell-soluble factor, which are mediated by cell adhesion molecules, cell signaling molecules, and growth factors, respectively. However, since the biomolecules act upon receptors presented on cells in a highly sophisticated manner, people cannot always expect the bioactivities of the biomolecules outside the living system. Considering the biomolecules mainly made up of proteins, the immobilization of the proteins on biomaterial surfaces has been investigated as artificial microenvironments to achieve desired cellular functions for tissue regeneration [76]. Several covalent and non-covalent bonding methods, such as tethering with PEG [77-79], complexing with natural polymers [80-83], and fusion protein engineering of growth factor and different tagged molecules [84-90], have been investigated as a means to mimic cellular microenvironments through protein immobilization without losing the bioactivities for the induction of tissue regeneration.

# 3. Enhanced neovascularization in scaffold biomaterials

Another big issue of scaffold biomaterials is the neovascularization that is essential to supply nutrients and oxygen to the cells for tissue regeneration or to elucidate the distribution of nanoparticles in tissue engineering constructs for nano-pathophysiological researches. Neovascularization can be obtained by three approaches using angiogenic genes, angiogenic factors, and progenitor or stem cells [91-95]. Several attempts have been made to fabricate vascularized tissue engineered constructs *in vitro* [91, 92]. By contrast, *in vivo* neovascularization will be expected if the tissue engineered construct can provide adequate stimuli to the surrounding tissues. Neovascularization is the formation of vasculature in an avascular tissue. The formation of vasculature is based on two underlying mechanisms: angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. The basic idea of angiogenesis is the formations of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones by sprouting of capillaries. Vasculogenesis denotes the *de novo* assemble of ECs to capillaries *in situ* and regulates the first primitive vessel formation in early embryonic development. In this process, endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) migrate to avascular areas and differentiate to mature ECs in response to local cues, such as angiogenic factors and ECM, resulting in creating first primitive vessel networks [96]. Once the primitive vessel network formed, new blood capillaries emerge from the pre-existing vessels and generate more complex capillary networks, which are governed by angiogenic factors secreted from ECs and stromal cells, and/or cancer cells. To introduce vascular networks into tissue engineered constructs, similar processes are required (**Figure 1**).

# 3.1. Angiogenic factors to enhance neovascularization

Angiogenic factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), have been utilized to promote neovascularization [97]. The VEGF family has been most widely investigated as one of the crucial modulators involved in several steps of neovascularization [98]. In some clinical trials, significant neovascularization and increased blood perfusion were observed [99, 100]. FGF functions not only as an angiogenic factor but also as a regulatory factor to maintain the integrity of vasculatures [101]. Among the FGF family, FGF-1 and FGF-2 have been extensively studied and utilized in therapeutic angiogenesis. FGF-1 gene therapy has been conducted using FGF-1-expressing plasmid DNA and showed the safety of angiogenic gene therapy in Phase I/II trials for patients with critical limb ischemia [102], while Phase II trial failed to demonstrate its benefit. Besides VEGF and FGF, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-BB have also been studied. It has been shown that HGF stimulates ECs proliferation via VEGF production, and promotes secretion of proteases to be involved in ECM degradation and cell migration [103]. PDGF-BB promotes FGF-2 release and FGF receptor activation in vascular smooth muscle cells [104], and plays an important role in maturation of vasculature [105]. Another cytokines or chemokines, such as granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF), stroma cell-derived factor (SDF)-1, and substance P, are also known to contribute to neovascularization by mobilizing progenitor cells or neutrophil granulocytes from bone marrow and subsequently recruiting the cells to the site of angiogenesis [93].

In the *in vivo* system, most of angiogenic factors exist in an inactive form by binding to ECM components, such as proteoglycan, collagen, and fibrin [106], and with the onset of angiogenesis, their active form will be released from ECM through

enzymatic activations. Therefore, regardless of the factor type, it is necessary to develop a delivery system that can realize stable concentration of the angiogenic factor suitable for inducing neovascularization in vivo. Although prolonged expression of an angiogenic gene could expect a higher local concentration of the resulting protein enough to induce angiogenesis, protein administration may be more predictable in terms of initial dose and pharmacokinetics of the angiogenic factor than the genetic approach. Several controlled release system comprises hydrogels, microspheres, porous scaffolds, and nanofibers, and both natural and synthetic polymers have been explored to enhance biological activities of angiogenic factors (Table 2) [92, 95]. Among natural polymers, fibrin, collagen, gelatin, alginate, and hyaluronic acid are widely investigated. Angiogenic factors have been incorporated into fibrin matrices together with heparin, leading to better control of the release rate of heparin-binding growth factors, such as FGF-2, than fibrin matrices alone [107]. Hubbell et al. created a fibrin-binding VEGF fusion protein via recombinant protein engineering that enables the introduction of a specific binding domain into growth factors at a desired location not to lose their bioactivities [108]. The fibrin-binding VEGF fusion protein allows VEGF to be released in a controlled manner via proteolysis for the matrix remodeling after ECs infiltration.

Marui et al. reported that the dual release of a lower dose of FGF-2 and HGF from the collagen microspheres could achieve equivalent blood perfusion recovery and more mature vasculature in ischemic limbs than a higher dose of FGF-2 or HGF alone [109]. To improve the affinity of growth factors to collagen [110], heparin was covalently introduced into collagen-based scaffold biomaterials [111]. Similar to the fibrin-binding VEGF fusion protein, a collagen-binding VEGF fusion protein demonstrated better retention in collagen-based scaffold biomaterials compared with VEGF alone, and showed the promoted angiogenesis in the ischemic heart [112, 113].

Tabata et al. demonstrated the effectiveness of FGF-2 protein released from gelatin hydrogels in various animal models either non-diabetic or diabetic for acute myocardial infarction [114, 115], prevascularization for cardiomyocyte transplantation to the ischemic heart [116], limb ischemia [117], and bone regeneration [118]. Furthermore, Marui et al. have shown the safety and feasibility of the controlled release system in patients with critical limb ischemia, who had no option of medical or surgical treatment [119].

We utilized an alginate hydrogel patch to deliver SDF-1 and demonstrated the

accelerating healing and reducing scarring in an animal model that closely mimics human wound healing using Yorkshire pigs with acute surgical wounds (**Figure 2**) [120]. Alginate microspheres can also be employed for controlled release of entrapped proteins. Protein loss during microsphere fabrication has been a major drawback for application as a controlled release system [92]. On the other hand, a hyaluronic acid hydrogel conjugated with cell adhesion peptides and matrix metalloproteinase-cleavable peptides to entrap angiogenic factors and endothelial colony-forming cells. By using the hyaluronic acid hydrogel with angiogenic activities, Hanjaya-Putra et al. showed that a functional vascular network forms *in situ* and integrates with the host vasculature [121].

Synthetic polymers, such as PGA, PLA, and their copolymer [122-129], and PEG derivatives [130-132], have been investigated as controlled release systems for angiogenic growth factors. To avoid the bioactivity loss caused by exposure to organic solvents in fabrication processes, many researches have employed heparin for controlled release systems of angiogenic growth factors from PLGA [126]. Combination of an angiogenic factor-encapsulating PLGA microspheres with another angiogenic factor-incorporating porous PLGA scaffolds achieves sequential angiogenic factor delivery, such as VEGF and Angiopoietin-I [127], VEGF and PDGF-BB [128], or FGF-2 and PDGF-BB [129], to promote more mature and stable vessel formation than simultaneous delivery of the angiogenic factors.

Hubbell et al. fabricated PEG hydrogels by crosslinking with cleavable linkers, such as matrix metalloproteinase-cleavable peptides, and demonstrated the cell-demanded release of VEGF and the subsequent cell ingrowth into the PEG hydrogel [130]. West et al. introduced a VEGF-mimetic peptide, a cell adhesion peptide of Arg-Gly-Asp, and a collagenase-cleavable peptide into PEG diacrylate hydrogels using a succinimidyl ester linker and showed the promoted angiogenesis into the hydrogel [131]. Salimath et al. reported the dual delivery of HGF and VEGF from a protease-degradable PEG hydrogel could improve cardiac function in rat with acute myocardial infarction caused by ischemia and reperfusion [132]. Werner et al. demonstrated that a local concentration gradient of SDF-1 generated by PEG hydrogels containing a sulfated-glycosaminoglycan could enhance the recruitment of circulating EPCs and subsequent angiogenesis *in vivo* [133].

# 3.2. Angiogenic cells to enhance neovascularization

Cell source is also an important topic for enhanced neovascularization. Primary sources are ECs that include human dermal microvascular ECs (HDMECs), human umbilical vein ECs (HUVECs), bovine aortic ECs (BAECs), and bovine capillary ECs (BCEs). Furthermore, Jarrell et al. have used microvessel endothelium isolated from a liposuction-derived fatty tissue through a Percoll density gradient [134]. However, the complicated isolation protocol and low proliferation rates for autologous ECs may become a major drawback to their application. Therefore, EPCs from various adult sources, such as umbilical cord blood, peripheral blood, bone marrow-derived mononuclear cells, and fat tissue, have been proposed as an alternative cell source for neovascularization.

Asahara and Isner identified EPCs in 1997 and described their role in vasculogenesis for hind limb ischemia [135]. EPCs can differentiate into mature ECs as verified by endothelial markers, such as von Willebrand factor (vWF), platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1/CD31), and vascular endothelial-cadherin (VE-Cad) [136]. EPCs have the potential to migrate and incorporate into ischemic tissue, and blood flow recovery and capillary density were significantly improved after EPC transplantation in animals [137]. As a result, EPCs reduced the rate of limb loss and increased blood flow in diabetic mice with impaired circulation [138]. They also improved neovascularization and myocardial function in mouse cardiac infarction models [139]. These findings suggest that exogenously administered EPCs augment neovascularization based on the cross talk between EPCs and other cell types mediated by angiogenic factors or cell-cell interactions. Systemically administering granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) increased the circulating EPC population and augmented neovascularization of ischemic tissues [140]. VEGF increased mobilization of EPCs in peripheral blood of mice. Other mobilizing factors include angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1), placental growth factor (PIGF), and erythropoietin. Mobilizing factor release plays a crucial role in recruiting EPCs to sites of neovascularization. Another important recruitment factor is SDF-1. SDF-1 binds to the chemokine receptor CXCR-4, which is highly expressed on EPCs in addition to bone marrow stroma. Once sites of neovascularization are reached, EPCs may recruit additional EPCs by releasing growth factors, such as VEGF, HGF, G-CSF, and GM-CSF.

EPCs have been demonstrated to differentiate towards ECs in culture both

with and without VEGF [141-143]. Because of their angiogenic potential, EPCs have been utilized not only for therapeutic intervention in ischemic diseases but also for endothelialization of implants, such as vascular grafts and stents [144, 145]. Moreover, engraftment of EPCs is an attractive possibility for enhanced neovascularization in scaffold biomaterials. EPCs accelerated the vascularization of heparin-immobilized PCL scaffold biomaterials in the presence of VEGF [146]. It has been shown that the co-culture of EPCs with different cell types, such as smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, adipocytes, or osteoblasts, plays a crucial role in supporting angiogenesis [147-150]. The presence of EPCs enhanced dermal vascularization with capillary-like structures homogeneously in scaffold biomaterials [151]. The integrative use of bioreactor culture systems and co-cultured osteogenic cells and EPCs promotes maturation of vascularized bone tissue engineered constructs *in vitro* [152].

In contrast to normal tissues, the vasculature of solid tumors has a limited diffusion, resulting in the tissue hypoxia with a low oxygen concentration. This tissue hypoxia triggers a cascade of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and VEGF-mediated signaling events that initiate tumor neovascularization. Hida et al. demonstrated that ECs in solid tumors are cytogenetically abnormal and aneuploid with multiple chromosomes and multiple centrosomes [153, 154]. Unlike normal ECs, which remain diploid in long-term culture, the aneuploidy of tumor ECs increases in culture suggesting that these cells are inherently unstable. Moreover, tumor ECs show resistance to paclitaxel compared with normal ECs [155]. Taken together, it is likely that heterogeneity of ECs with different phenotypes needs to be concerned in mimicking a pathological endothelium in vascularized tissue engineered constructs. However, a source of viable and stable ECs *in vitro* is a major challenging. One possible way to tackle this issue is to use embryonic stem cells (ESCs) or induced pluripotent cells (iPSCs). We have recently demonstrated the ability of hESCs to self-renew and to generate ECs [156, 157]. In addition to their self-renewal capacity, hESCs have the potential for large-scale differentiation into any adult cell types in vitro, and are thus an attractive alternative source of ECs. The emergence of ECs from differentiating hESCs could be monitored by an EC-specific genetic reporter, whereby the VE-Cad promoter drives expression of green fluorescent protein (hVPr-GFP). This novel approach for vascular monitoring in combination with the ability to grow cells on 3-D scaffold biomaterials will allow us to examine the contribution of the hVPr-GFP positive ECs to

the neovascularization process in tumors.

#### 4. Vascularized tissue engineering constructs for nano-pathophysiology

Substantial efforts have already been made to understand angiogenic processes taking place in ischemic tissues and tumors. On the basis of the angiogenic process, different approaches have been attempted to introduce vascular networks in tissue engineered constructs (**Figure 1.**). Two strategies have been proposed to create vascularized tissue engineered constructs. The first is "Top down approach" based on the ECs and their ability to form vascular networks *in vivo*. The second strategy of "Bottom-up approach" deals with the vessels themselves *in vitro*.

#### 4.1. Top-down approaches (in vivo)

Enhanced neovascularization in vivo aims to create vascular networks for following cell transplantation or to connect host vasculatures with prefabricated in vitro vascular networks in tissue engineered constructs. The newly formed vascular network could be expected to supply nutrients and oxygen for cells enough to survive and function in vivo. To build a functional vascular network for tissue engineered constructs, two approaches have been developed. One is to utilize controlled release systems of angiogenic factors for neovascularization. Arteriovenous (AV) loops are the other neovascularization approach to generate vascularized tissue engineered constructs in vivo. Angiogenic factors could enhance neovascularization based on their bioactivities, that stimulate ECs or EPCs to migrate towards the factor gradient and subsequently promote cell assembly, vessel formation, and maturation. The controlled release systems as described above have been used with or without scaffold biomaterials. To induce neovascularization in scaffold biomaterials, the physical parameters are critical. Specifically, pore size has been evaluated in a mouse ectopic implantation model using poly(vinyl alcohol) porous scaffold biomaterials combined with a controlled release system of FGF-2. A pore size above 250 µm was necessary for vascular ingrowth into the scaffold biomaterial [63]. This area of research remains critical with unexplored issues of microenvironment contribution to vascularization of tissue engineered constructs. Neovascularization *in vivo* prior to cell transplantation enables cells to survive and function even in ischemic sites [116]. For instance, Sakakibara et al. reported that neovascularization induced by the controlled release of FGF-2 enables

transplanted cardiomyocytes to improve the left ventricular function in rats with myocardial infarction [158]. Furthermore, using the same controlled release system, Gu et al. demonstrated that combination of gelatin microspheres incorporating FGF-2 and collagen scaffolds allows the xenogeneic islets-containing bioartificial pancreas devise to induce neovascularization even at the subcutaneous site of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats, resulting in improved function of islet transplantation [158]. One disadvantage of this neovascularization approach is the lack of reproducibility and standardization in terms of the structure of the resulting vascular network.

By contrast, AV loops enables us to fabricate vascularized tissue engineered constructs with capillaries of artery and vein in a controlled fashion. The resulting AV roop can be utilized to connect with host vessels by suturing under a surgical microscope [159-164]. To obtain such a functional vascular network, a scaffold or chamber is placed within an AV loop in a site of rich vascularization *in vivo*, mainly muscle. After the formation of an artery-capillary-vein network by the surrounding tissue, the construct can be transferred to the reconstructive defect [165]. Mian et al reported that an isolated chamber is capable to generate new vascularized tissue even in the absence of added ECM [163]. Polykandriotis et al. performed the AV loops for neovascularization of bovine cancellous bone matrix to obtain vascularized hard-tissue constructs [166]. The application of the AV loop provides a promising tool for fabrication of vascularized tissue engineered constructs.

#### 4.2. Bottom-up approaches (*in vitro*)

Unlike the "Top-down approaches", the 3-D positioning of cells together with angiogenic cells *in vitro* could recreate physiological or pathological vasculatures in a controlled fashion in terms of structures and cell types. This reproducibility and standardization in fabricating vascularized tissue engineered constructs *in vitro* is a major advantage of "Bottom-up approaches". The controlled assembly of different vascular cells, such as ECs and pericytes, could realize vascularized tissue engineered constructs with particular vascular structures seen in pathological tissues, and quantitatively recapitulate the *in vivo* dynamic behavior of nanoparticles in *in vitro* conditions. Unlike conventional animal models, the vascularized tissue engineered tissue engineered to an alternative experimental platform with a higher reproducibility and quantitativity even in the *in vivo* conditions.

However, building a natural connection of the engineered vascular network with the existing host vasculature, a process called anastomose, is a major issue to be challenged. Although the difficulty in anastomosis requires numerous investigations both through *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches, there still remain some substantial challenges to develop technologies for rebuilding vascular networks in tissue engineered constructs [91, 92].

Recently two different strategies have been proposed to rebuild vascular networks in tissue engineered constructs *in vitro*. The first strategy is to fabricate synthetically vascularized scaffold biomaterials. Decellularization of tissues and organs is the second strategy termed biologically vascularized scaffold biomaterials, that maintain intact 3-D geometry, vasculature, and ECM structure. Effective neovascularization in tissue engineered constructs is inherently linked to intelligent design and sophisticated fabrication for scaffold biomaterials. Smart 3-D design and high resolution manufacturing technologies are used to define cell alignment and angiogenesis. Several technologies, such as sacrificial templates [167, 168], microfluidics [169-171], organ printing [172-174], and 3-D scaffold biomaterials [175, 176], have been developed.

Chen et al. developed a technique that can print rigid 3-D filament networks of carbohydrate glass, and used them as a cytocompatible sacrificial template in tissue engineered constructs containing living cells, such as primary rat hepatocytes [167]. Yoshida et al. used silica tubes as a sacrificial template to reconstruct a bilayered vessel structure consisting of a monolayer of ECs and surrounding smooth muscle cells *in vitro* [168]. Using the sacrificial templates allows independent control of network geometry, endothelialization, and extravascular tissue, and is compatible with a wide variety of cell types, and synthetic and natural scaffold biomaterials.

On the basis of a microfluidic technique, Zheng et al. fabricated living microvascular networks in 3-D tissue engineered constructs and demonstrated their biofunctionality *in vitro* [169]. The endothelialized microfluidic vessels within a native collagen matrix recapitulate endothelial characters in terms of the morphology, mass transfer processes, long-term stability of the endothelium, angiogenic activities, and nonthrombotic nature. Another approach is to combine vascularized native tissues with a microfluidic perfusable bioreactor [170]. In this approach, triple-layer cardiac cell sheets produced from co-culture with ECs were placed on resected tissue with a connectable artery and vein as a vascular bed and were maintained in a media perfused

bioreactor. As a result, ECs connect to capillaries in the vascular bed and form tubular lumens, creating *in vitro* cardiac tissues with vascular networks to be transplanted with blood vessel anastomoses. Beside the resected tissue, Shimizu et al. also used a perfusion bioreactor having collagen-based microchannels [171]. When triple-layer cardiac cell sheets are incubated within this bioreactor, ECs in the cell sheets migrate to vascularize in the collagen gel, and finally connect with the microchannels.

Bioprinter technique could use computer-aided design (CAD) data sets to realize freeform 3-D printing [172-174]. Tissue engineered constructs, built by those layer-by-layer manufacturing processes, can match the *in vivo* characteristics of porosity, mechanical strength and vascularization, with the correct spatial positioning and morphology. Xu et al. fabricated functional 3-D tissue engineered contractile cardiac hybrids by arranging alternate layers of biocompatible alginate hydrogels and mammalian cardiac cells according to pre-designed 3-D patterns [174].

Fischbach et al. engineered 3-D human tumor models using carcinoma cells in polymeric scaffold biomaterials that recreated microenvironmental characteristics representative of tumors *in vivo* [175]. Interestingly, the angiogenic characteristics of tumor cells were dramatically altered upon 3-D culture within this system, and corresponded much more closely to tumors formed *in vivo*. We have recently succeeded in generating stable cultures of vascularized cells in a honeycomb alginate scaffold biomaterials self-organized into capillary-like structures with an average channel diameter of 300  $\mu$ m (**Figure 3**) [176]. The porous 3-D alginate depots containing cells, in a serum-free condition, were further exposed to laminar flow to recapitulate the vasculature *in vivo*. The scaffold biomaterial remained intact with the cells remaining adhered to it and aligned in the direction of flow, demonstrating its suitability for establishing durable angiogenic modules that may ultimately enhance organ revascularization or model tumor neoangiogenesis.

Despite the recent progress in the development of the synthetic vascularized scaffold biomaterials, mimicking and rebuilding natural vasculatures *in vitro* is still challenging. Therefore, the reuse of biological vascular structures by decellularizing tissues and organs is an alternative approach to tackle this problem. This decellularized tissue and organ are designated as "biologically vascularized scaffold biomaterials" that maintain intact 3-D geometry, vasculature, and ECM structure. Several organs, such as heart [177], lung [178], liver [179], kidney [180], and small intestinal submucosa [181],

have been proved to hold promising performances after decellularization and subsequent repopulation with functional cells including ECs. For example, the decellularization and the repopulation with neonatal cardiac or aortic ECs of rat hearts as well as the culture under simulated physiological conditions led to the formation of contractile myocardium [177]. Indeed, this biologically vascularized scaffold biomaterial provides some advantages including physiological or pathological vascular perfusion, biocompatible ECM structures, and relevant geometries for cell positioning. However, a major limitation of this approach is the lack of the standardization and reproducibility in 3-D structures due to the animal-derived material. Therefore, combination of a defined 3-D geometry based on natural tissue and organ structures and decellularized ECM components will open up a new generation of synthetic vascularized scaffold biomaterials for tissue regeneration well as as nano-pathophysiology.

# 5. Conclusions

Scaffold biomaterials are used in a variety of tissue engineering and drug delivery purposes to promote angiogenesis, and hence influence the regeneration of tissues and organs in the body. Cellular interactions with their environment are of central importance to many biological processes and are important in the context of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Several approaches such as sacrificial templates, microfluidics, organ printing, and 3-D scaffold biomaterials, will enable one to grow, or engineer, long-lasting tissues and organs using 3-D depots, which may serve to guide new tissue formation therapeutically in the body or *in vitro* as relevant models to study disease nano-pathophysiology. Insights gained from 3-D platforms may advance our understanding of cancer and contribute to the development of antiangiogenic therapies.

### References

[1] D.E. Discher, D.J. Mooney, P.W. Zandstra, Growth factors, matrices, and forces combine and control stem cells, Science, 324 (2009) 1673-1677.

[2] J.T. Emerman, D.R. Pitelka, Maintenance and induction of morphological differentiation in dissociated mammary epithelium on floating collagen membranes, In Vitro, 13 (1977) 316-328.

[3] E.Y. Lee, G. Parry, M.J. Bissell, Modulation of secreted proteins of mouse mammary epithelial cells by the collagenous substrata, J Cell Biol, 98 (1984) 146-155.

[4] O.W. Petersen, L. Ronnov-Jessen, A.R. Howlett, M.J. Bissell, Interaction with basement membrane serves to rapidly distinguish growth and differentiation pattern of normal and malignant human breast epithelial cells, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89 (1992) 9064-9068.

[5] B.M. Baker, C.S. Chen, Deconstructing the third dimension: how 3D culture microenvironments alter cellular cues, J Cell Sci, 125 (2012) 3015-3024.

[6] R.R. Kay, P. Langridge, D. Traynor, O. Hoeller, Changing directions in the study of chemotaxis, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 9 (2008) 455-463.

[7] R.H. Adams, K. Alitalo, Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 8 (2007) 464-478.

[8] Z.K. Otrock, R.A. Mahfouz, J.A. Makarem, A.I. Shamseddine, Understanding the biology of angiogenesis: review of the most important molecular mechanisms, Blood Cells Mol Dis, 39 (2007) 212-220.

[9] T. Bollenbach, P. Pantazis, A. Kicheva, C. Bokel, M. Gonzalez-Gaitan, F. Julicher, Precision of the Dpp gradient, Development, 135 (2008) 1137-1146.

[10] J.B. Gurdon, P.Y. Bourillot, Morphogen gradient interpretation, Nature, 413 (2001) 797-803.

[11] C. Manjon, E. Sanchez-Herrero, M. Suzanne, Sharp boundaries of Dpp signalling trigger local cell death required for Drosophila leg morphogenesis, Nat Cell Biol, 9 (2007) 57-63.

[12] K. Saha, D.V. Schaffer, Signal dynamics in Sonic hedgehog tissue patterning, Development, 133 (2006) 889-900.

[13] A.S. Narang, S. Varia, Role of tumor vascular architecture in drug delivery, Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 63 (2011) 640-658.

[14] M.R. Kano, Y. Bae, C. Iwata, Y. Morishita, M. Yashiro, M. Oka, T. Fujii, A. Komuro, K. Kiyono, M. Kaminishi, Improvement of cancer-targeting therapy, using nanocarriers for intractable solid tumors by inhibition of TGF- $\beta$  signaling, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104 (2007) 3460-3465.

[15] H. Cabral, Y. Matsumoto, K. Mizuno, Q. Chen, M. Murakami, M. Kimura, Y. Terada, M.R. Kano, K. Miyazono, M. Uesaka, N. Nishiyama, K. Kataoka, Accumulation of sub-100 nm polymeric micelles in poorly permeable tumours depends on size, Nat Nanotechnol, 6 (2011) 815-823.

[16] A. Sofuni, H. Iijima, F. Moriyasu, D. Nakayama, M. Shimizu, K. Nakamura, F. Itokawa, T. Itoi, Differential diagnosis of pancreatic tumors using ultrasound contrast imaging, J Gastroenterol, 40 (2005) 518-525.

[17] Y. Takahashi, K.R. Cleary, M. Mai, Y. Kitadai, C.D. Bucana, L.M. Ellis, Significance of vessel count and vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor (KDR) in intestinal-type gastric cancer, Clin Cancer Res, 2 (1996) 1679-1684.

[18] H. Maeda, Y. Matsumura, Tumoritropic and lymphotropic principles of macromolecular drugs, Crit Rev Ther Drug Carrier Syst, 6 (1989) 193-210.

[19] Y. Matsumura, H. Maeda, A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs, Cancer Res, 46 (1986) 6387-6392.

[20] M.P. Lutolf, J.A. Hubbell, Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering, Nat Biotechnol, 23 (2005) 47-55.

[21] J. Meyers, J. Craig, D.J. Odde, Potential for control of signaling pathways via cell size and shape, Curr Biol, 16 (2006) 1685-1693.

[22] T. Mseka, J.R. Bamburg, L.P. Cramer, ADF/cofilin family proteins control formation of oriented actin-filament bundles in the cell body to trigger fibroblast polarization, J Cell Sci, 120 (2007) 4332-4344.

[23] V.M. Weaver, S. Lelievre, J.N. Lakins, M.A. Chrenek, J.C. Jones, F. Giancotti, Z. Werb, M.J. Bissell, beta4 integrin-dependent formation of polarized three-dimensional architecture confers resistance to apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelium, Cancer Cell, 2 (2002) 205-216.

[24] M. Allen, J. Louise Jones, Jekyll and Hyde: the role of the microenvironment on the progression of cancer, J Pathol, 223 (2010) 163-177.

[25] J.A. Joyce, J.W. Pollard, Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis, Nat Rev Cancer, 9 (2009) 239-252.

[26] K. Pietras, A. Ostman, Hallmarks of cancer: interactions with the tumor stroma, Exp Cell Res, 316 (2010) 1324-1331.

[27] K. Rasanen, A. Vaheri, Activation of fibroblasts in cancer stroma, Exp Cell Res, 316 (2010) 2713-2722.

[28] F. Xing, J. Saidou, K. Watabe, Cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) in tumor microenvironment, Front Biosci, 15 (2010) 166-179.

[29] A. Mammoto, T. Mammoto, D.E. Ingber, Mechanosensitive mechanisms in transcriptional regulation., J Cell Sci, 125 (2012) 3061-3073.

[30] T. Mammoto, D.E. Ingber, Mechanical control of tissue and organ development., Development, 137 (2010) 1407-1420.

[31] E. Cukierman, D.E. Bassi, Physico-mechanical aspects of extracellular matrix influences on tumorigenic behaviors, Semin Cancer Biol, 20 (2010) 139-145.

[32] C.M. Nelson, M.J. Bissell, Modeling dynamic reciprocity: engineering three-dimensional culture models of breast architecture, function, and neoplastic transformation, Semin Cancer Biol, 15 (2005) 342-352.

[33] D. Brouty-Boyé, Developmental Biology of Fibroblasts and Neoplastic Disease, in:A. Macieira-Coelho (Ed.) Developmental Biology of Neoplastic Growth, SpringerBerlin Heidelberg, 2005, pp. 55-77.

[34] M. Adams, J.L. Jones, R.A. Walker, J.H. Pringle, S.C. Bell, Changes in tenascin-C isoform expression in invasive and preinvasive breast disease, Cancer Res, 62 (2002) 3289-3297.

[35] B. Carnemolla, P. Castellani, M. Ponassi, L. Borsi, S. Urbini, G. Nicolo, A. Dorcaratto, G. Viale, G. Winter, D. Neri, L. Zardi, Identification of a glioblastoma-associated tenascin-C isoform by a high affinity recombinant antibody, Am J Pathol, 154 (1999) 1345-1352.

[36] P. Castellani, L. Borsi, B. Carnemolla, A. Biro, A. Dorcaratto, G.L. Viale, D. Neri, L. Zardi, Differentiation between high- and low-grade astrocytoma using a human recombinant antibody to the extra domain-B of fibronectin, Am J Pathol, 161 (2002) 1695-1700.

[37] J. Chen, Z. Chen, M. Chen, D. Li, Z. Li, Y. Xiong, J. Dong, X. Li, Role of fibrillar Tenascin-C in metastatic pancreatic cancer, Int J Oncol, 34 (2009) 1029-1036.

[38] R.A. Hancox, M.D. Allen, D.L. Holliday, D.R. Edwards, C.J. Pennington, D.S. Guttery, J.A. Shaw, R.A. Walker, J.H. Pringle, J.L. Jones, Tumour-associated tenascin-C isoforms promote breast cancer cell invasion and growth by matrix metalloproteinase-dependent and independent mechanisms, Breast Cancer Res, 11 (2009) R24.

[39] P.L. Jones, F.S. Jones, Tenascin-C in development and disease: gene regulation and cell function, Matrix Biol, 19 (2000) 581-596.

[40] J. Kaczmarek, P. Castellani, G. Nicolo, B. Spina, G. Allemanni, L. Zardi, Distribution of oncofetal fibronectin isoforms in normal, hyperplastic and neoplastic human breast tissues, Int J Cancer, 59 (1994) 11-16.

[41] H.M. Kagan, W. Li, Lysyl oxidase: Properties, specificity, and biological roles inside and outside of the cell, J Cell Biochem, 88 (2003) 660-672.

[42] K. Katenkamp, A. Berndt, W. Hindermann, H. Wunderlich, K.M. Haas, L. Borsi, L. Zardi, H. Kosmehl, mRNA expression and protein distribution of the unspliced tenascin-C isoform in prostatic adenocarcinoma, J Pathol, 203 (2004) 771-779.

[43] K.R. Levental, H. Yu, L. Kass, J.N. Lakins, M. Egeblad, J.T. Erler, S.F. Fong, K. Csiszar, A. Giaccia, W. Weninger, M. Yamauchi, D.L. Gasser, V.M. Weaver, Matrix crosslinking forces tumor progression by enhancing integrin signaling, Cell, 139 (2009) 891-906.

[44] F. Oyama, S. Hirohashi, M. Sakamoto, K. Titani, K. Sekiguchi, Coordinate oncodevelopmental modulation of alternative splicing of fibronectin pre-messenger RNA at ED-A, ED-B, and CS1 regions in human liver tumors, Cancer Res, 53 (1993) 2005-2011.

[45] G. Serini, M.L. Bochaton-Piallat, P. Ropraz, A. Geinoz, L. Borsi, L. Zardi, G. Gabbiani, The fibronectin domain ED-A is crucial for myofibroblastic phenotype induction by transforming growth factor-beta1, J Cell Biol, 142 (1998) 873-881.

[46] E.S. White, F.E. Baralle, A.F. Muro, New insights into form and function of fibronectin splice variants, J Pathol, 216 (2008) 1-14.

[47] K.E. Wilson, J.M. Bartlett, E.P. Miller, J.F. Smyth, P. Mullen, W.R. Miller, S.P. Langdon, Regulation and function of the extracellular matrix protein tenascin-C in ovarian cancer cell lines, Br J Cancer, 80 (1999) 685-692.

[48] J.G. Goetz, S. Minguet, I. Navarro-Lérida, J.J. Lazcano, R. Samaniego, E. Calvo,M. Tello, T. Osteso-Ibáñez, T. Pellinen, A. Echarri, A. Cerezo, A.J.P. Klein-Szanto, R.

Garcia, P.J. Keely, P. Sánchez-Mateos, E. Cukierman, M.A. Del Pozo, Biomechanical Remodeling of the Microenvironment by Stromal Caveolin-1 Favors Tumor Invasion and Metastasis, Cell, 146 (2011) 148-163.

[49] J.A. DeQuach, V. Mezzano, A. Miglani, S. Lange, G.M. Keller, F. Sheikh, K.L. Christman, Simple and high yielding method for preparing tissue specific extracellular matrix coatings for cell culture, PLoS One, 5 (2010) e13039.

[50] A.J. Engler, S. Sen, H.L. Sweeney, D.E. Discher, Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification, Cell, 126 (2006) 677-689.

[51] D.T. Butcher, T. Alliston, V.M. Weaver, A tense situation: forcing tumour progression, Nat Rev Cancer, 9 (2009) 108-122.

[52] M.J. Paszek, N. Zahir, K.R. Johnson, J.N. Lakins, G.I. Rozenberg, A. Gefen, C.A. Reinhart-King, S.S. Margulies, M. Dembo, D. Boettiger, D.A. Hammer, V.M. Weaver, Tensional homeostasis and the malignant phenotype, Cancer Cell, 8 (2005) 241-254.

[53] E. Cukierman, R. Pankov, D.R. Stevens, K.M. Yamada, Taking cell-matrix adhesions to the third dimension, Science, 294 (2001) 1708-1712.

[54] C.F. Dewey, Jr., S.R. Bussolari, M.A. Gimbrone, Jr., P.F. Davies, The dynamic response of vascular endothelial cells to fluid shear stress, J Biomech Eng, 103 (1981) 177-185.

[55] S. Obi, H. Masuda, T. Shizuno, A. Sato, K. Yamamoto, J. Ando, Y. Abe, T. Asahara, Fluid shear stress induces differentiation of circulating phenotype endothelial progenitor cells, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 303 (2012) C595-606.

[56] L. Adamo, O. Naveiras, P.L. Wenzel, S. McKinney-Freeman, P.J. Mack, J. Gracia-Sancho, A. Suchy-Dicey, M. Yoshimoto, M.W. Lensch, M.C. Yoder, G. Garcia-Cardena, G.Q. Daley, Biomechanical forces promote embryonic haematopoiesis, Nature, 459 (2009) 1131-1135.

[57] S. Mizuno, T. Tateishi, T. Ushida, J. Glowacki, Hydrostatic fluid pressure enhances matrix synthesis and accumulation by bovine chondrocytes in three-dimensional culture, J Cell Physiol, 193 (2002) 319-327.

[58] D.E. Ingber, Cellular mechanotransduction: putting all the pieces together again., FASEB J, 20 (2006) 811-827.

[59] D.E. Ingber, L. Dike, L. Hansen, S. Karp, H. Liley, A. Maniotis, H. McNamee, D. Mooney, G. Plopper, J. Sims, et al., Cellular tensegrity: exploring how mechanical changes in the cytoskeleton regulate cell growth, migration, and tissue pattern during

morphogenesis, Int Rev Cytol, 150 (1994) 173-224.

[60] G. Halder, S. Dupont, S. Piccolo, Transduction of mechanical and cytoskeletal cues by YAP and TAZ, Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 13 (2012) 591-600.

[61] Y. Ikada, Challenges in tissue engineering, J R Soc Interface, 3 (2006) 589-601.

[62] Y. Tabata, M. Miyao, M. Yamamoto, Y. Ikada, Vascularization into a porous sponge by sustained release of basic fibroblast growth factor, J Biomater Sci Polym Ed, 10 (1999) 957-968.

[63] M. Yamamoto, Y. Tabata, H. Kawasaki, Y. Ikada, Promotion of fibrovascular tissue ingrowth into porous sponges by basic fibroblast growth factor, J Mater Sci Mater Med, 11 (2000) 213-218.

[64] K. Whang, K. Healy, Processing of polymer scaffolds: freeze-drying, in: Methods of tissue engineering, 2002, pp. 697-704.

[65] D.W. Hutmacher, M. Sittinger, M.V. Risbud, Scaffold-based tissue engineering: rationale for computer-aided design and solid free-form fabrication systems, Trends Biotechnol, 22 (2004) 354-362.

[66] X. Liu, J.M. Holzwarth, P.X. Ma, Functionalized Synthetic Biodegradable Polymer Scaffolds for Tissue Engineering, Macromol Biosci, 12 (2012) 911-919.

[67] P.X. Ma, Biomimetic materials for tissue engineering, Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 60 (2008) 184-198.

[68] K. Tuzlakoglu, R.L. Reis, Biodegradable polymeric fiber structures in tissue engineering, Tissue Eng Part B Rev, 15 (2009) 17-27.

[69] S. Morita, Y. Ikada, Lactide copolymers for scaffolds in tissue engineering, 2002.

[70] A.D. Augst, H.J. Kong, D.J. Mooney, Alginate Hydrogels as Biomaterials, Macromol Biosci, 6 (2006) 623-633.

[71] T. Boontheekul, H.-J. Kong, D.J. Mooney, Controlling alginate gel degradation utilizing partial oxidation and bimodal molecular weight distribution, Biomaterials, 26 (2005) 2455-2465.

[72] F. Brandl, F. Sommer, A. Goepferich, Rational design of hydrogels for tissue engineering: Impact of physical factors on cell behavior, Biomaterials, 28 (2007) 134-146.

[73] J.A. Hubbell, Materials as morphogenetic guides in tissue engineering, Curr Opin Biotechnol, 14 (2003) 551-558.

[74] C.J. Bettinger, R. Langer, J.T. Borenstein, Engineering substrate topography at the

micro- and nanoscale to control cell function, Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 48 (2009) 5406-5415.

[75] Y. Ito, Covalently immobilized biosignal molecule materials for tissue engineering, Soft Mater, 4 (2007) 46.

[76] B. Joddar, Y. Ito, Biological modifications of materials surfaces with proteins for regenerative medicine, J Mater Chem, 21 (2011) 13737.

[77] M. Mrksich, Using self-assembled monolayers to model the extracellular matrix, Acta Biomater, 5 (2009) 832-841.

[78] P.R. Kuhl, L.G. Griffith-Cima, Tethered epidermal growth factor as a paradigm for growth factor-induced stimulation from the solid phase, Nat Med, 2 (1996) 1022-1027.

[79] Y. Ito, G. Chen, Y. Imanishi, T. Morooka, E. Nishida, Y. Okabayashi, M. Kasuga, Differential control of cellular gene expression by diffusible and non-diffusible EGF, J Biochem, 129 (2001) 733-737.

[80] J. Kopecek, J. Yang, Smart self-assembled hybrid hydrogel biomaterials, Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 51 (2012) 7396-7417.

[81] P.M. Nair, K. Salaita, R.S. Petit, J.T. Groves, Using patterned supported lipid membranes to investigate the role of receptor organization in intercellular signaling, Nat Protoc, 6 (2011) 523-539.

[82] K. Salaita, P.M. Nair, R.S. Petit, R.M. Neve, D. Das, J.W. Gray, J.T. Groves, Restriction of receptor movement alters cellular response: physical force sensing by EphA2, Science, 327 (2010) 1380-1385.

[83] A. Erben, O. Seitz, Synthesis of Nucleic Acid–Peptide Conjugates Targeted to Proteins, Israel J Chem, 51 (2011) 876-884.

[84] E.Y. Egawa, K. Kato, M. Hiraoka, T. Nakaji-Hirabayashi, H. Iwata, Enhanced proliferation of neural stem cells in a collagen hydrogel incorporating engineered epidermal growth factor, Biomaterials, 32 (2011) 4737-4743.

[85] D.S. Hwang, J.H. Waite, M. Tirrell, Promotion of osteoblast proliferation on complex coacervation-based hyaluronic acid - recombinant mussel adhesive protein coatings on titanium, Biomaterials, 31 (2010) 1080-1084.

[86] Y. Kumada, K. Hamasaki, Y. Shiritani, T. Ohse, M. Kishimoto, Efficient immobilization of a ligand antibody with high antigen-binding activity by use of a polystyrene-binding peptide and an intelligent microtiter plate, J Biotechnol, 142 (2009) 135-141.

[87] M. Nagaoka, U. Koshimizu, S. Yuasa, F. Hattori, H. Chen, T. Tanaka, M. Okabe,K. Fukuda, T. Akaike, E-cadherin-coated plates maintain pluripotent ES cells without colony formation, PLoS One, 1 (2006) e15.

[88] T. Nakaji-Hirabayashi, K. Kato, Y. Arima, H. Iwata, Oriented immobilization of epidermal growth factor onto culture substrates for the selective expansion of neural stem cells, Biomaterials, 28 (2007) 3517-3529.

[89] K. Ogiwara, M. Nagaoka, C.S. Cho, T. Akaike, Construction of a novel extracellular matrix using a new genetically engineered epidermal growth factor fused to IgG-Fc, Biotechnol Lett, 27 (2005) 1633-1637.

[90] H. Toda, M. Yamamoto, H. Kohara, Y. Tabata, Orientation-regulated immobilization of Jagged1 on glass substrates for ex vivo proliferation of a bone marrow cell population containing hematopoietic stem cells, Biomaterials, 32 (2011) 6920-6928.

[91] E.C. Novosel, C. Kleinhans, P.J. Kluger, Vascularization is the key challenge in tissue engineering, Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 63 (2011) 300-311.

[92] G. Zhang, L.J. Suggs, Matrices and scaffolds for drug delivery in vascular tissue engineering, Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 59 (2007) 360-373.

[93] S.S. Said, J.G. Pickering, K. Mequanint, Advances in Growth Factor Delivery for Therapeutic Angiogenesis, J Vasc Res, 50 (2013) 35-51.

[94] K. Szoke, J.E. Brinchmann, Concise Review: Therapeutic Potential of Adipose Tissue-Derived Angiogenic Cells, Stem Cells Transl Med, 1 (2012) 658-667.

[95] H. Chu, Y. Wang, Therapeutic angiogenesis: controlled delivery of angiogenic factors., Ther Deliv, 3 (2012) 693-714.

[96] W. Risau, I. Flamme, Vasculogenesis, Ann Rev Cell Develop Biol, 11 (1995) 73-91.

[97] M. Ruel, F.W. Sellke, Angiogenic protein therapy, Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 15 (2003) 222-235.

[98] G.D. Yancopoulos, S. Davis, N.W. Gale, J.S. Rudge, S.J. Wiegand, J. Holash, Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation, Nature, 407 (2000) 242-248.

[99] M. Hedman, J. Hartikainen, M. Syvanne, J. Stjernvall, A. Hedman, A. Kivela, E. Vanninen, H. Mussalo, E. Kauppila, S. Simula, O. Narvanen, A. Rantala, K. Peuhkurinen, M.S. Nieminen, M. Laakso, S. Yla-Herttuala, Safety and feasibility of

catheter-based local intracoronary vascular endothelial growth factor gene transfer in the prevention of postangioplasty and in-stent restenosis and in the treatment of chronic myocardial ischemia: phase II results of the Kuopio Angiogenesis Trial (KAT), Circulation, 107 (2003) 2677-2683.

[100] R.S. Ripa, Y. Wang, E. Jorgensen, H.E. Johnsen, B. Hesse, J. Kastrup, Intramyocardial injection of vascular endothelial growth factor-A165 plasmid followed by granulocyte-colony stimulating factor to induce angiogenesis in patients with severe chronic ischaemic heart disease, Eur Heart J, 27 (2006) 1785-1792.

[101] M. Presta, P. Dell'Era, S. Mitola, E. Moroni, R. Ronca, M. Rusnati, Fibroblast growth factor/fibroblast growth factor receptor system in angiogenesis, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev, 16 (2005) 159-178.

[102] A. Niebuhr, T. Henry, J. Goldman, I. Baumgartner, E. van Belle, J. Gerss, A.T. Hirsch, S. Nikol, Long-term safety of intramuscular gene transfer of non-viral FGF1 for peripheral artery disease, Gene Ther, 19 (2012) 264-270.

[103] T. Ueno, T. Nakamura, T. Torimura, M. Sata, Angiogenic cell therapy for hepatic fibrosis, Med Mol Morphol, 39 (2006) 16-21.

[104] E. Millette, B.H. Rauch, O. Defawe, R.D. Kenagy, G. Daum, A.W. Clowes, Platelet-derived growth factor-BB-induced human smooth muscle cell proliferation depends on basic FGF release and FGFR-1 activation, Circ Res, 96 (2005) 172-179.

[105] W.T. Gerthoffer, Mechanisms of vascular smooth muscle cell migration, Circ Res, 100 (2007) 607-621.

[106] J. Taipale, J. Keski-Oja, Growth factors in the extracellular matrix, FASEB J, 11 (1997) 51-59.

[107] S.E. Sakiyama-Elbert, J.A. Hubbell, Development of fibrin derivatives for controlled release of heparin-binding growth factors, J Control Rel, 65 (2000) 389-402.

[108] M. Ehrbar, A. Metters, P. Zammaretti, J.A. Hubbell, A.H. Zisch, Endothelial cell proliferation and progenitor maturation by fibrin-bound VEGF variants with differential susceptibilities to local cellular activity, J Control Rel, 101 (2005) 93-109.

[109] A. Marui, A. Kanematsu, K. Yamahara, K. Doi, T. Kushibiki, M. Yamamoto, H. Itoh, T. Ikeda, Y. Tabata, M. Komeda, Simultaneous application of basic fibroblast growth factor and hepatocyte growth factor to enhance the blood vessels formation, J Vasc Surg, 41 (2005) 82-90.

[110] A. Kanematsu, A. Marui, S. Yamamoto, M. Ozeki, Y. Hirano, M. Yamamoto, O.

Ogawa, M. Komeda, Y. Tabata, Type I collagen can function as a reservoir of basic fibroblast growth factor, J Control Rel, 99 (2004) 281-292.

[111] G.C. Steffens, C. Yao, P. Prevel, M. Markowicz, P. Schenck, E.M. Noah, N. Pallua, Modulation of angiogenic potential of collagen matrices by covalent incorporation of heparin and loading with vascular endothelial growth factor, Tissue Eng, 10 (2004) 1502-1509.

[112] J. Zhang, L. Ding, Y. Zhao, W. Sun, B. Chen, H. Lin, X. Wang, L. Zhang, B. Xu,J. Dai, Collagen-targeting vascular endothelial growth factor improves cardiac performance after myocardial infarction, Circulation, 119 (2009) 1776-1784.

[113] J. Gao, J. Liu, Y. Gao, C. Wang, Y. Zhao, B. Chen, Z. Xiao, Q. Miao, J. Dai, A myocardial patch made of collagen membranes loaded with collagen-binding human vascular endothelial growth factor accelerates healing of the injured rabbit heart, Tissue Eng Part A, 17 (2011) 2739-2747.

[114] K. Tambara, G.U. Premaratne, G. Sakaguchi, N. Kanemitsu, X. Lin, H. Nakajima, Y. Sakakibara, Y. Kimura, M. Yamamoto, Y. Tabata, T. Ikeda, M. Komeda, Administration of control-released hepatocyte growth factor enhances the efficacy of skeletal myoblast transplantation in rat infarcted hearts by greatly increasing both quantity and quality of the graft, Circulation, 112 (2005) I129-134.

[115] K. Takaba, C. Jiang, S. Nemoto, Y. Saji, T. Ikeda, S. Urayama, T. Azuma, A. Hokugo, S. Tsutsumi, Y. Tabata, M. Komeda, A combination of omental flap and growth factor therapy induces arteriogenesis and increases myocardial perfusion in chronic myocardial ischemia: evolving concept of biologic coronary artery bypass grafting, J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 132 (2006) 891-899.

[116] Y. Sakakibara, K. Nishimura, K. Tambara, M. Yamamoto, F. Lu, Y. Tabata, M. Komeda, Prevascularization with gelatin microspheres containing basic fibroblast growth factor enhances the benefits of cardiomyocyte transplantation, J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 124 (2002) 50-56.

[117] Y. Arai, M. Fujita, A. Marui, K. Hirose, H. Sakaguchi, T. Ikeda, Y. Tabata, M. Komeda, Combined treatment with sustained-release basic fibroblast growth factor and heparin enhances neovascularization in hypercholesterolemic mouse hindlimb ischemia, Circ J, 71 (2007) 412-417.

[118] A. Iwakura, Y. Tabata, N. Tamura, K. Doi, K. Nishimura, T. Nakamura, Y. Shimizu, M. Fujita, M. Komeda, Gelatin sheet incorporating basic fibroblast growth

factor enhances healing of devascularized sternum in diabetic rats, Circulation, 104 (2001) I325-329.

[119] A. Marui, Y. Tabata, S. Kojima, M. Yamamoto, K. Tambara, T. Nishina, Y. Saji, K. Inui, T. Hashida, S. Yokoyama, R. Onodera, T. Ikeda, M. Fukushima, M. Komeda, A novel approach to therapeutic angiogenesis for patients with critical limb ischemia by sustained release of basic fibroblast growth factor using biodegradable gelatin hydrogel: an initial report of the phase I-IIa study, Circ J, 71 (2007) 1181-1186.

[120] S.Y. Rabbany, J. Pastore, M. Yamamoto, T. Miller, S. Rafii, R. Aras, M. Penn, Continuous delivery of stromal cell-derived factor-1 from alginate scaffolds accelerates wound healing, Cell Transplant, 19 (2010) 399-408.

[121] D. Hanjaya-Putra, Y.I. Shen, A. Wilson, K. Fox-Talbot, S. Khetan, J.A. Burdick,C. Steenbergen, S. Gerecht, Integration and regression of implanted engineered human vascular networks during deep wound healing, Stem Cells Transl Med, 2 (2013) 297-306.

[122] J.L. Cleland, E.T. Duenas, A. Park, A. Daugherty, J. Kahn, J. Kowalski, A. Cuthbertson, Development of poly-(d,l-lactide–coglycolide) microsphere formulations containing recombinant human vascular endothelial growth factor to promote local angiogenesis, J Control Rel, 72 (2001) 13-24.

[123] T.W. King, C.W. Patrick, Development and in vitro characterization of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-loaded poly(DL-lactic-co-glycolic acid)/poly(ethylene glycol) microspheres using a solid encapsulation/single emulsion/solvent extraction technique, J Biomed Mater Res, 51 (2000) 383-390.

[124] W.L. Murphy, M.C. Peters, D.H. Kohn, D.J. Mooney, Sustained release of vascular endothelial growth factor from mineralized poly(lactide-co-glycolide) scaffolds for tissue engineering, Biomaterials, 21 (2000) 2521-2527.

[125] X. Guo, C.G. Elliott, Z. Li, Y. Xu, D.W. Hamilton, J. Guan, Creating 3D angiogenic growth factor gradients in fibrous constructs to guide fast angiogenesis, Biomacromol, 13 (2012) 3262-3271.

[126] I. d'Angelo, O. Oliviero, F. Ungaro, F. Quaglia, P.A. Netti, Engineering strategies to control vascular endothelial growth factor stability and levels in a collagen matrix for angiogenesis: The role of heparin sodium salt and the PLGA-based microsphere approach, Acta Biomater, (2013).

[127] S.M. Peirce, R.J. Price, T.C. Skalak, Spatial and temporal control of angiogenesis

and arterialization using focal applications of VEGF164 and Ang-1, Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 286 (2004) H918-925.

[128] T.P. Richardson, M.C. Peters, A.B. Ennett, D.J. Mooney, Polymeric system for dual growth factor delivery, Nat Biotechnol, 19 (2001) 1029-1034.

[129] R. Cao, E. Brakenhielm, R. Pawliuk, D. Wariaro, M.J. Post, E. Wahlberg, P. Leboulch, Y. Cao, Angiogenic synergism, vascular stability and improvement of hind-limb ischemia by a combination of PDGF-BB and FGF-2, Nat Med, 9 (2003) 604-613.

[130] A.H. Zisch, M.P. Lutolf, M. Ehrbar, G.P. Raeber, S.C. Rizzi, N. Davies, H. Schmokel, D. Bezuidenhout, V. Djonov, P. Zilla, J.A. Hubbell, Cell-demanded release of VEGF from synthetic, biointeractive cell ingrowth matrices for vascularized tissue growth, FASEB J, 17 (2003) 2260-2262.

[131] J.E. Leslie-Barbick, J.E. Saik, D.J. Gould, M.E. Dickinson, J.L. West, The promotion of microvasculature formation in poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate hydrogels by an immobilized VEGF-mimetic peptide, Biomaterials, 32 (2011) 5782-5789.

[132] A.S. Salimath, E.A. Phelps, A.V. Boopathy, P.L. Che, M. Brown, A.J. Garcia, M.E. Davis, Dual delivery of hepatocyte and vascular endothelial growth factors via a protease-degradable hydrogel improves cardiac function in rats, PLoS One, 7 (2012) e50980.

[133] S. Prokoph, E. Chavakis, K.R. Levental, A. Zieris, U. Freudenberg, S. Dimmeler,C. Werner, Sustained delivery of SDF-1alpha from heparin-based hydrogels to attract circulating pro-angiogenic cells, Biomaterials, 33 (2012) 4792-4800.

[134] S.K. Williams, T.F. Wang, R. Castrillo, B.E. Jarrell, Liposuction-derived human fat used for vascular graft sodding contains endothelial cells and not mesothelial cells as the major cell type, J Vasc Surg, 19 (1994) 916-923.

[135] T. Asahara, T. Murohara, A. Sullivan, M. Silver, R. van der Zee, T. Li, B. Witzenbichler, G. Schatteman, J.M. Isner, Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis, Science, 275 (1997) 964-967.

[136] G.P. Fadini, D. Losordo, S. Dimmeler, Critical reevaluation of endothelial progenitor cell phenotypes for therapeutic and diagnostic use, Circ Res, 110 (2012) 624-637.

[137] S. Rafii, D. Lyden, Therapeutic stem and progenitor cell transplantation for organ vascularization and regeneration, Nat Med, 9 (2003) 702-712.

[138] J. Yan, G. Tie, B. Park, Y. Yan, P.T. Nowicki, L.M. Messina, Recovery from hind limb ischemia is less effective in type 2 than in type 1 diabetic mice: roles of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and endothelial progenitor cells, J Vasc Surg, 50 (2009) 1412-1422.

[139] Q.H. Tuo, H. Zeng, A. Stinnett, H. Yu, J.L. Aschner, D.F. Liao, J.X. Chen, Critical role of angiopoietins/Tie-2 in hyperglycemic exacerbation of myocardial infarction and impaired angiogenesis, Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 294 (2008) H2547-2557.

[140] M.H. Cottler-Fox, T. Lapidot, I. Petit, O. Kollet, J.F. DiPersio, D. Link, S. Devine, Stem cell mobilization, Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program, (2003) 419-437.

[141] U.M. Gehling, S. Ergün, U. Schumacher, C. Wagener, K. Pantel, M. Otte, G. Schuch, P. Schafhausen, T. Mende, N. Kilic, K. Kluge, B. Schäfer, D.K. Hossfeld, W. Fiedler, In vitro differentiation of endothelial cells from AC133-positive progenitor cells, Blood, 95 (2000) 3106-3112.

[142] M. Boyer, L.E. Townsend, L.M. Vogel, J. Falk, D. Reitz-Vick, K.T. Trevor, M. Villalba, P.J. Bendick, J.L. Glover, Isolation of endothelial cells and their progenitor cells from human peripheral blood, J Vasc Surg, 31 (2000) 181-189.

[143] A. de Mel, G. Jell, M.M. Stevens, A.M. Seifalian, Biofunctionalization of biomaterials for accelerated in situ endothelialization: a review, Biomacromol, 9 (2008) 2969-2979.

[144] D.P. Griese, A. Ehsan, L.G. Melo, D. Kong, L. Zhang, M.J. Mann, R.E. Pratt, R.C. Mulligan, V.J. Dzau, Isolation and transplantation of autologous circulating endothelial cells into denuded vessels and prosthetic grafts: implications for cell-based vascular therapy, Circulation, 108 (2003) 2710-2715.

[145] T. Shirota, H. Yasui, H. Shimokawa, T. Matsuda, Fabrication of endothelial progenitor cell (EPC)-seeded intravascular stent devices and in vitro endothelialization on hybrid vascular tissue, Biomaterials, 24 (2003) 2295-2302.

[146] S. Singh, B.M. Wu, J.C.Y. Dunn, The enhancement of VEGF-mediated angiogenesis by polycaprolactone scaffolds with surface cross-linked heparin, Biomaterials, 32 (2011) 2059-2069.

[147] J.R. Hurley, S. Balaji, D.A. Narmoneva, Complex temporal regulation of capillary morphogenesis by fibroblasts, Am J Physiol - Cell Physiol, 299 (2010) C444-C453.

[148] R.E. Unger, S. Ghanaati, C. Orth, A. Sartoris, M. Barbeck, S. Halstenberg, A. Motta, C. Migliaresi, C.J. Kirkpatrick, The rapid anastomosis between prevascularized networks on silk fibroin scaffolds generated in vitro with cocultures of human microvascular endothelial and osteoblast cells and the host vasculature, Biomaterials, 31 (2010) 6959-6967.

[149] J. Borges, M.C. Müller, A. Momeni, G.B. Stark, N. Torio-Padron, In vitro analysis of the interactions between preadipocytes and endothelial cells in a 3D fibrin matrix, Minimally Invasive Therapy and Allied Technologies, 16 (2007) 141-148.

[150] S. Chung, R. Sudo, P.J. MacK, C.R. Wan, V. Vickerman, R.D. Kamm, Cell migration into scaffolds under co-culture conditions in a microfluidic platform, Lab on a Chip, 9 (2009) 269-275.

[151] X. Chen, A.S. Aledia, S.A. Popson, L. Him, C.C.W. Hughes, S.C. George, Rapid anastomosis of endothelial progenitor cell-derived vessels with host vasculature is promoted by a high density of cotransplanted fibroblasts, Tissue Eng Part A, 16 (2010) 585-594.

[152] Y. Liu, S.H. Teoh, M.S. Chong, C.H. Yeow, R.D. Kamm, M. Choolani, J.K. Chan, Contrasting effects of vasculogenic induction upon biaxial bioreactor stimulation of mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitor cells cocultures in three-dimensional scaffolds under in vitro and in vivo paradigms for vascularized bone tissue engineering, Tissue Eng Part A, 19 (2013) 893-904.

[153] K. Hida, Y. Hida, D.N. Amin, A.F. Flint, D. Panigrahy, C.C. Morton, M. Klagsbrun, Tumor-associated endothelial cells with cytogenetic abnormalities, Cancer Res, 64 (2004) 8249-8255.

[154] K. Hida, M. Klagsbrun, A new perspective on tumor endothelial cells: unexpected chromosome and centrosome abnormalities, Cancer Res, 65 (2005) 2507-2510.

[155] K. Akiyama, N. Ohga, Y. Hida, T. Kawamoto, Y. Sadamoto, S. Ishikawa, N. Maishi, T. Akino, M. Kondoh, A. Matsuda, N. Inoue, M. Shindoh, K. Hida, Tumor endothelial cells acquire drug resistance by MDR1 up-regulation via VEGF signaling in tumor microenvironment, Am J Pathol, 180 (2012) 1283-1293.

[156] D. James, H.S. Nam, M. Seandel, D. Nolan, T. Janovitz, M. Tomishima, L. Studer,
G. Lee, D. Lyden, R. Benezra, N. Zaninovic, Z. Rosenwaks, S.Y. Rabbany, S. Rafii,
Expansion and maintenance of human embryonic stem cell-derived endothelial cells by
TGFbeta inhibition is Id1 dependent, Nat Biotechnol, 28 (2010) 161-166.

[157] D. James, Q. Zhan, C. Kloss, N. Zaninovic, Z. Rosenwaks, S. Rafii, Lentiviral transduction and clonal selection of hESCs with endothelial-specific transgenic reporters, Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol, Chapter 1 (2011) Unit1F 12.

[158] W. Wang, Y. Gu, Y. Tabata, M. Miyamoto, H. Hori, N. Nagata, M. Touma, A.N. Balamurugan, Y. Kawakami, M. Nozawa, K. Inoue, Reversal of diabetes in mice by xenotransplantation of a bioartificial pancreas in a prevascularized subcutaneous site, Transplantation, 73 (2002) 122-129.

[159] R.K. Khouri, J. Upton, W.W. Shaw, Prefabrication of composite free flaps through staged microvascular transfer: An experimental and clinical study, Plast Reconstr Surg, 87 (1991) 108-115.

[160] W.A. Morrison, E. Dvir, K. Doi, J.V. Hurley, M.J. Hickey, B.M. O'Brien, Prefabrication of thin transferable axial-pattern skin flaps: an experimental study in rabbits, Br J Plast Surg, 43 (1990) 645-654.

[161] M. Le Danvic, C. Arrouvel, N. Bricout, P. Banzet, Experimental study of the vascularization of a flap from a vascular axial loop, Ann Chir Plast Esthét, 33 (1988) 377-381.

[162] Z. Lokmic, F. Stillaert, W.A. Morrison, E.W. Thompson, G.M. Mitchell, An arteriovenous loop in a protected space generates a permanent, highly vascular, tissue-engineered construct, FASEB J, 21 (2007) 511-522.

[163] R. Mian, W.A. Morrison, J.V. Hurley, A.J. Penington, R. Romeo, Y. Tanaka, K.R. Knight, Formation of new tissue from an arteriovenous loop in the absence of added extracellular matrix, Tissue Eng, 6 (2000) 595-603.

[164] O.C.S. Cassell, W.A. Morrison, A. Messina, A.J. Penington, E.W. Thompson, G.W. Stevens, J.M. Perera, H.K. Kleinman, J.V. Hurley, R. Romeo, K.R. Knight, The influence of extracellular matrix on the generation of vascularized, engineered, transplantable tissue, Ann NY Acad Sci, 944 (2001) 429-442.

[165] Y. Tanaka, A. Tsutsumi, D.M. Crowe, S. Tajima, W.A. Morrison, Generation of an autologous tissue (matrix) flap by combining an arteriovenous shunt loop with artificial skin in rats: preliminary report, Br J Plast Surg, 53 (2000) 51-57.

[166] E. Polykandriotis, A. Arkudas, J.P. Beier, A. Hess, P. Greil, T. Papadopoulos, J. Kopp, A.D. Bach, R.E. Horch, U. Kneser, Intrinsic axial vascularization of an osteoconductive bone matrix by means of an arteriovenous vascular bundle, Plast Reconstr Surg, 120 (2007) 855-868.

[167] J.S. Miller, K.R. Stevens, M.T. Yang, B.M. Baker, D.H. Nguyen, D.M. Cohen, E. Toro, A.A. Chen, P.A. Galie, X. Yu, R. Chaturvedi, S.N. Bhatia, C.S. Chen, Rapid casting of patterned vascular networks for perfusable engineered three-dimensional tissues, Nat Mater, 11 (2012) 768-774.

[168] A. Nishiguchi, H. Yoshida, M. Matsusaki, M. Akashi, Rapid construction of three-dimensional multilayered tissues with endothelial tube networks by the cell-accumulation technique, Adv Mater, 23 (2011) 3506-3510.

[169] Y. Zheng, J. Chen, M. Craven, N.W. Choi, S. Totorica, A. Diaz-Santana, P. Kermani, B. Hempstead, C. Fischbach-Teschl, J.A. López, In vitro microvessels for the study of angiogenesis and thrombosis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 109 (2012) 9342-9347.

[170] H. Sekine, T. Shimizu, K. Sakaguchi, I. Dobashi, M. Wada, M. Yamato, E. Kobayashi, M. Umezu, T. Okano, In vitro fabrication of functional three-dimensional tissues with perfusable blood vessels, Nat Commun, 4 (2013) 1399.

[171] K. Sakaguchi, T. Shimizu, S. Horaguchi, H. Sekine, M. Yamato, M. Umezu, T. Okano, In vitro engineering of vascularized tissue surrogates, Sci Rep, 3 (2013) 1316.

[172] S.J. Hollister, Porous scaffold design for tissue engineering, Nat Mater, 4 (2005) 518-524.

[173] A. Kenichi, I. Shintaroh, T. Hideki, G. Capi, N. Yuichi, N. Makoto, Three-dimensional inkjet biofabrication based on designed images, Biofabrication, 3 (2011) 034113.

[174] T. Xu, C. Baicu, M. Aho, M. Zile, T. Boland, Fabrication and characterization of bio-engineered cardiac pseudo tissues, Biofabrication, 1 (2009) 035001.

[175] C. Fischbach, R. Chen, T. Matsumoto, T. Schmelzle, J.S. Brugge, P.J. Polverini,D.J. Mooney, Engineering tumors with 3D scaffolds, Nat Methods, 4 (2007) 855-860.

[176] M. Yamamoto, D. James, H. Li, J. Butler, S. Rafii, S. Rabbany, Generation of stable co-cultures of vascular cells in a honeycomb alginate scaffold., Tissue Eng Part A, 16 (2010) 299-308.

[177] H.C. Ott, T.S. Matthiesen, S.K. Goh, L.D. Black, S.M. Kren, T.I. Netoff, D.A. Taylor, Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart, Nat Med, 14 (2008) 213-221.

[178] H.C. Ott, B. Clippinger, C. Conrad, C. Schuetz, I. Pomerantseva, L. Ikonomou, D. Kotton, J.P. Vacanti, Regeneration and orthotopic transplantation of a bioartificial lung,

Nat Med, 16 (2010) 927-933.

[179] B.E. Uygun, A. Soto-Gutierrez, H. Yagi, M.L. Izamis, M.A. Guzzardi, C. Shulman, J. Milwid, N. Kobayashi, A. Tilles, F. Berthiaume, M. Hertl, Y. Nahmias, M.L. Yarmush, K. Uygun, Organ reengineering through development of a transplantable recellularized liver graft using decellularized liver matrix, Nat Med, 16 (2010) 814-820.

[180] J.J. Song, J.P. Guyette, S.E. Gilpin, G. Gonzalez, J.P. Vacanti, H.C. Ott, Regeneration and experimental orthotopic transplantation of a bioengineered kidney, Nat Med, 19 (2013) 646-651.

[181] C. Biancosino, P. Zardo, T. Walles, I. Wildfang, P. Macchiarini, H. Mertsching, Generation of a bioartificial fibromuscular tissue with autoregenerative capacities for surgical reconstruction, Cytother, 8 (2006) 178-183.

# **Figure legends**

**Figure 1.** Schematic drawing of two strategies to create vascularized tissue engineered constructs. The first is "top down approach" based on the ECs and their ability to form vascular networks *in vivo*. The second strategy, "bottom-up approach", deals with the vessels themselves *in vitro*.

**Figure 2.** SDF-1 treatment accelerates healing of acute surgical wounds. (A) Percent cumulative release of SDF-1 *in vivo*. (B) Percent wound healing over time shown for SDF-1 protein ( $^{\circ}$ ) treated wounds and nontreated sham ( $^{\circ}$ ) or saline ( $^{\bullet}$ ) in a porcine model of acute dermal wound closure.

**Figure 3.** A representative image of alginate scaffolds and GFP-labeled HUVECs in the scaffolds obtained by scanning electron microscope and confocal microscope. (A–C). Alginate scaffolds with aligned-pore structure. Average pore diameter is 352 mm and porosity is 93.7%. (A) Horizontal images and (B) vertical images of scaffolds. Magnification of each image is 10x. In addition, Z-stack images were taken after 1 day of cell seeding at a magnification of 10x and reconstructed through a projection mode using LSM510 software.

# **Top-down approach (***in vivo***)**

**Bottom-up approach (in vitro)** 



Figure 1





	Table 1. ECM	proteins	with a	tumor-specific	modification
--	--------------	----------	--------	----------------	--------------

ECM proteins	Tumor-specific modifications	Distribution or function	References
tenascin-C	full-length unspliced isoforms	pancreatic and prostate cancer	[37, 42]
	isoform containing domain C	gliomas	[35]
	isoform containing domain A and D	breast and ovarian carcinoma	[34, 38]
fibronectin	FN-extradomain (ED)A	conversion fibroblasts to myofibroblasts	[45]
	FN-EDB	seen in neovascular structures in many different tumor types	[36, 40]
collagen and elastin	crosslinked with lysyl oxidase (LOX)	elevated ECM stiffness	[43]

Origin	Materials	Forms
Natural polymer	fibrin	hydrogel, sponge
	collagen	hydrogel, microsphere, sponge
	gelatin	hydrogel, microsphere, sponge
	alginate	hydrogel, microsphere, sponge
	hyaluronic acid	hydrogel
	chitosan	microsphere
Synthetic polymer	lactide-glycolide copolymer (PLGA)	microsphere, sponge
	polycaprolactone (PCL)	sponge, nanofiber
	poly(ethylene glycol)	hydrogel

# Table 2. Controlled release systems for angiogenic factors